#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

#### SUPREME COURT NO. 18-1329

### **TERRI ENDRESS**

**Petitioner-Appellee**,

vs.

### IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

**Respondent-Appellant.** 

## APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY HONORABLE KAREN ROMANO, JUDGE

## APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND CONDITIONAL REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

**THOMAS J. MILLER** Attorney General of Iowa

### **TABITHA J. GARDNER**

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building 1305 E. Walnut St., 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT-STATE

## **CERTIFICATE OF FILING AND SERVICE**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

## I. THE DHS AFFORDED THE PROVIDER ALL DUE PROCESS RIGHTS REQUITED BY LAW.

### <u>Cases</u>

Bass v. JC Penney, 880 N.W.2d 751, 764 (Iowa 2016)

Bd. of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S.564, 577 (1972)

Bills v. Henderson, 631 F.2d 1287, 1298-99 (6th Cir. 1980)

<u>Clemente v. U.S.</u>, 766 F.2d 1358, 1364 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985)

<u>General Motors Corp. v. Dep't of Treasury</u>, 803 N.W.2d 698, 702 (Mich. Ct. App. 2010)

Horsfield Materials, Inc. v. City of Dyersville, 834 N.W.2d 444, 459 (Iowa 2013)

<u>Keating v. Nebraska Pub. Power Dist.</u>, 660 F.3d 1014, 1017 (8th Cir. 2011)

Matthews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 334-335 (1976)

<u>Perry v. Sindermann</u>, 408 U.S. 593, 599-601, 92 S.Ct. 2694, 2699, 33 L.Ed.2d 570 (1972)

<u>State v. Hernandez-Lopez</u>, 639 N.W.2d 226, 237 (Iowa 2002)

## <u>State Statutes</u>

Iowa Code § 237A

Iowa Code § 237A.5

Iowa Code § 237A.5(2)

Iowa Code § 237A.5(2)(d)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(2014)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(4)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(7)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(8)

Iowa Code § 237A.25(3)(b) and (c)

Iowa Code § 237A.26(7)(b)(2018)

Iowa Code § 237A.45 CFR 98(2014)

Iowa Code Chapter 239B

# <u>Rules</u>

441 IAC Rule 170.9 (2013)

441 IAC Rule 170.9 (2015)

## **Other Authorities**

Iowa Constitution, Art. I, § 9

U.S. Constitution, XIV Amendment

## II. IOWA CODE 237A AND 17A PROVIDED DHS AUTHORITY TO DRAFT IOWA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE 441-170.9 AND 441-7.9 AND THOSE RULES ARE SUFFICIENTLY CLEAR.

## <u>Cases</u>

<u>Garwick v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.</u>, 611 N.W.2d 286, 289 (Iowa 2000)

<u>Greenawalt v. Zoning Board of Adj. of City of Davenport</u>, 345 N.W.2d 537, 545

Incorporated City of Denison v. Clabaugh, 306 N.W. 2d 748, 751 (Iowa 1977)

<u>Iowa Dep't of Transp. v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Woodbury County</u>, 488 N.W.2d 174, 175 (Iowa 1992)

<u>Iowa Nat'l Industrial Loan Co. v. Iowa Dep't of Revenue</u>, 224 N.W.2d 437 (Iowa 1974)

Lockhart v. Cedar Rapids Community Sch. Dist., 577 N.W.2d 845, 847 (Iowa 1998)

<u>Messina v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service</u>, 341 N.W.2d 52, 56 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Guzman-Juarez, 591 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Iowa 1999)

State v. West, 446 N.W.2d 777, 778 (Iowa 1989)

## <u>State Statutes</u>

Iowa Code Chapter 17A

Iowa Code Chapter 17A.1(3)(2018)

Iowa Code Chapter 17A.1(4)(2018)

Iowa Code § 17A.19(5) (2015)

Iowa Code § 237A

Iowa Code § 237A.12(1)(g)(2018)

Iowa Code § 237A.13(4)(2017)

Iowa Code § 237A.25(3)(b) and (c)

Iowa Code § 237A.26(7)(b)(2017)

## <u>Rules</u>

441 IAC Rule 7(2016)

441 IAC Rule 7.2(17A)

441 IAC Rule 7.5

441 IAC Rule 7.5(9)(2018)

441 IAC Rule 7.5(9)(c)

441 IAC Rule 7.9 (17A)

441 IAC Rule 7.9(1)

441 IAC Rule 7.9(7)

441 IAC Rule 7.9(9)

441 IAC Rule 170

441 IAC Rule 170 Preamble (2017)

441 IAC Rule 170.1(2017)

441 IAC Rule 170.9 (2017)

441 IAC Rule 170.9(1)

441 IAC Rule 170.9(2)

441 IAC Rule 170.9(3)

441 IAC Rule 170.9(3)-(6)

441 IAC Rule 170.9(6)

## III. THE INTENT OF IOWA CODE 237A TO PROVIDE QUALITY CARE AND PROTECTION FOR CHILDREN, AND THE INTENT OF 17A TO BALANCE THE PUBLIC AND GOVERNMENT INTERESTS, WERE FURTHERED WHERE DHS DRAFTED CHILD CARE RULES AND ADMINISTERED THE CCA PROGRAM.

### <u>Cases</u>

Grinnell College v. Osborn, 751 N.W.2d 396, 403 (Iowa 2008)

## <u>State Statutes</u>

Iowa Code Chapter 17A

Iowa Code Chapter 17A.18A

Iowa Code § 237A

Iowa Code § 237A.13(6)-8(2017)

## <u>Rules</u>

441 IAC Rule 170

441 IAC Rule 170.4(7)(g)

441 IAC Rule 170.5(5)

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2), the State believes this case should be maintained in the Supreme Court as it involves an issue of first impression.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### Nature of the Case

This is the appeal of a judicial review challenging a final administrative determination that the Department of Human Services correctly computed its claim for recoupment of overpaid Child Care Assistance (hereinafter "CCA") to the child care provider (hereinafter "Provider").

### **Course of Proceedings and Nature of Facts**

This appeal arises out of a judicial review challenge to a final administrative determination that the Department of Human Services (hereinafter "DHS") correctly computed its recoupment claim for overpaid Child Care Assistance (hereinafter "CCA") to a child care provider (hereinafter "Provider"). While there is no case law specific to CCA Recoupment, a very similar case regarding CCA is presently before this Court. <u>See Pfaltzgraff v. Iowa Dep't of Human Svcs,</u> \_\_\_\_\_ WL \_\_\_\_\_ (\_\_\_\_ 2018); Polk County District

Court, CVCV054004 (Jan. 3, 2018).

In May of 2012, the Provider applied for DHS' child development home registration and, at the same time, applied for DHS' permission to accept CCA payments for children who received CCA subsidy benefits. App. 278. The Provider was approved to participate with both programs.

On July 17, 2014, the DHS cancelled the Provider's CCA provider agreement for submission of claims for payment for which she was not entitled. App. 279. The Provider appealed on July 22, 2014. <u>Id.</u> On September 25, 2014, a hearing was held before the Department of Inspections and Appeals. App. 278-280. The DHS' cancellation was affirmed. <u>Id.</u> The Provider appealed. The administrative law judge's ruling was affirmed by the DHS Director on November 17, 2014. App. 45, 337. The Provider did not appeal the CCA issue to the district court. Shortly after this, the Provider voluntarily relinquished her DHS' child development home registration.

In March of 2017, the Provider reapplied for a CCA provider agreement, and she was approved by DHS. App. 45. DHS noted that the Provider was residing at a different address in 2017 compared to what DHS had on file from her prior 2014 registration. <u>See</u> App. 255, 392. In evaluating the Petitioner's 2017 application, the DHS also noticed that the Provider had not made any payments toward her 2014 overpayment balance so the case was referred to establish a repayment schedule. App. 342-345.

A Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment was issued on April 3, 2017. App. 325, 392-393. The Provider appealed. An administrative hearing was held on August 8, 2017 and the DHS' overpayment determination was affirmed. The Provider appealed to the Director of DHS. App. 17-19. On October 20, 2017, the Director adopted the proposed decision. <u>Id.</u> The Provider sought judicial review. On July 12, 2018, the DHS' determinations were reversed by the district court. App. 489-518.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### (Administrative Contextual History)

The Provider has been involved in child care in Iowa since at least 2011. In July of 2011, DHS received a complaint that the Provider was providing child care (as a nonregistered provider) to more children than was allowed by law. App. 278. In May of 2012, the Provider applied to become a registered provider which would

allow her to have more children than she had been allowed as a nonregistered provider. <u>See Id.</u>; Iowa Code 237A. The Provider also applied to participate in the Child Care Assistance ("CCA") Program as a provider. <u>Id.</u>

Despite being permitted a larger number of children as a registered provider, the Provider still had two over-numbers child care complaints directed to DHS in January and September of 2013. App. 278.

The Provider's CCA billings stretching into June of 2014 revealed that there were several times that the Provider self-reported (ie. billed for CCA) for more children than allowed by law. App. 279. On July 17, 2014, the DHS issued a notice of decision cancelling the Provider's CCA Provider Agreement for submitting claims for payments for which she was not entitled. <u>Id.; see</u> App. 181-182. The Provider filed an appeal on July 22, 2014. <u>Id.</u>

On September 25, 2014, a hearing was held before the Department of Inspections and Appeals. The certified issue was "Whether the Department correctly cancelled the [Provider ]'s child care provider agreement for repeatedly submitting claims for payment to which the [Provider] was not entitled." App. 278. The

Provider argued at hearing that her billing errors were simply mistakes that were not intentionally inaccurate or overbilled. The administrative law judge's order notes, "it was pointed out to the Provider that she is the one that is most familiar with her business to be able to root out the children's parent's work schedule changes to show honest mistakes from that or to trace who of her employees might have made mistaken filings." App. 280. The DHS' CCA cancellation decision was sustained as the "Department has presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the [Provider] repeatedly made billings for children in excess of the numbers allowed for her care at any one time." Id. The Provider appealed. The administrative law judge's ruling was affirmed by the Director of DHS on November 17, 2014. App. 45, 337. The Provider did not appeal the CCA issue to the district court and shortly after the Director's November 2014 decision, the Provider voluntarily relinquished her child development home registration.

### (Overpayment Procedural History – The Instant Appeal)

In March of 2017, the Provider again approached DHS seeking a CCA Provider Agreement, and she was approved. App. 45. DHS noted that the Provider resided at a different address in 2017 than during her prior child care involvement with DHS in 2014. <u>See</u> App. 255, 392. When the Provider reapproached DHS in 2017 to reapply for a CCA agreement, the DHS recognized that she had not made payments toward her 2014 overpayment balance so the DHS CCA unit referred the case for establishment of a repayment schedule. App. 342-345.

A Notice of CCA Overpayment was issued on April 3, 2017. App. 325, 392-393. The Provider appealed. An administrative hearing was held on August 8, 2017. App. 42. The Provider was present and represented by her current attorney. The DHS represented itself pro se. <u>Id.</u> There was one certified issue on appeal: "Whether the Department correctly computed and established a claim for overpaid child care assistance." App. 44.

At hearing, it was conceded that there was a two-dollar debt computation error such that the overpayment was to be \$16, 003.94 for the period of care at issue (July 29, 2014 through November 23, 2014). App. 45. The administrative law judge considered several arguments set forth by the Provider at hearing.

The administrative law judge found that the DHS did not err in establishing or calculating the overpayment. Specifically, the ALJ

noted,

[Provider] ultimately lost her [Child Care Assistance Provider Agreement appeal – in 2014] when the Department issued a final decision affirming the cancellation of her agreement. Thus, the [Provider] did not have a Child Care Assistance Provider Agreement in effect during the appeal period. As a result, she was not entitled to receive the \$16,003.94 the Department paid to her for child care during that time. Therefore, this amount was an overpayment the Department was required to recoup. [Provider] did not dispute the amount was correctly calculated.

App. 47. The administrative law judge declined to address the Provider's constitutional and state law challenges. The judge did note that "[t]he [Provider] also makes some arguments ostensibly grounded in contract law. .... These arguments essentially rehash [Provider]'s arguments discussed above – that the rule is invalid and that her due process rights were violated by lack of notice – made under the guise of contract law rather than administrative and constitutional law, respectively. ... I decline to address them for the same reasons stated above." App. 48. Finally, the judge considered the Provider's argument of unjust enrichment, noting "Unjust enrichment is an equitable doctrine used to recover funds in a civil action. [cite omitted] Provider cites no authority, and I have not seen one, for the proposition that the doctrine can be wielded as a defense in an administrative action. Thus, I reject the argument." App. 48.

The Provider appealed the administrative law judge's proposed decision to the Director of DHS. App. 17-19. On October 20, 2017, the Director issued a final decision adopting the proposed decision. <u>Id.</u>

The Provider appealed to the district court. The district court ultimately reversed the administrative hearing findings favoring the DHS, but also ruled against the Provider's request for attorney's fees.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In <u>Ghost Player v. Iowa Dept. of Econ. Dev.</u>, \_\_\_\_\_N.W.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (2018); 2018 WL 480365, this Court articulated that when reviewing an agency decision that forms the basis of a petition for judicial review, this Court will apply the standards set forth in the judicial review provision of the Iowa Administrative Procedures Act to determine if this Court reaches the same result as the district court. <u>Id.</u> at 2018 WL 480365 at\*8.

To the extent that this Court is being asked to consider issues brought under the Iowa Administrative Procedures Act, the district court functioned in an appellate capacity to correct legal error committed by the agency. Iowa Code § 17A.19(8) (1997); <u>Consumer</u> <u>Advocate v. Iowa State Commerce Comm'n</u>, 465 N.W.2d 280, 281 (Iowa 1991). A court's review of agency action is severely circumscribed. <u>Burns v. Iowa Bd. of Nursing</u>, 495 N.W.2d 698, 699 (Iowa 1993). The administrative process presupposes that judgment calls are to be left to the agency. Nearly all disputes are won or lost there. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Leonard v. Iowa State Bd. of Ed.</u>, 471 N.W.2d 815, 816 (Iowa 1991).

In deciding whether the agency decision in this matter was correct, this Court should consider whether the agency's findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record as a whole. Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(f); <u>Hy-Vee Food Stores v. Iowa Civil Rights</u> <u>Comm'n</u>, 453 N.W.2d 512, 515 (Iowa 1990) (citations omitted). In <u>Mercy Health Ctr., A Div. of Sisters of Mercy Health Corp. v. State</u> <u>Health Facilities Council</u>, 360 N.W.2d 808 (Iowa 1985), the Court stated the following at pages 811-812: "Evidence is substantial if a reasonable person would find it adequate to reach the given conclusion, even if a reviewing court might draw a contrary inference." [citation].

The Iowa Administrative Act 17A.19(10)(m) provides that,

The court may affirm the agency action or remand to the agency for further proceedings. The court shall reverse, modify, or grant other appropriate relief from agency action, equitable or legal and including declaratory relief, it if determines that substantial rights of the person seeking judicial relief have been prejudiced because the agency action is ... [b]ased upon an irrational, illogical, or wholly unjustifiable application of law to fact that has clearly been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency.

Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(m) (2011). Weight of evidence remains within the agency's exclusive domain. Under these circumstances, great care must be taken by the reviewing court to avoid moving from the prescribed limited review into one that is <u>de novo</u>. <u>Burns v. Iowa Bd.</u> <u>of Nursing</u>, 495 N.W.2d 698, 699 (Iowa 1993).

## I. THE DHS AFFORDED THE PROVIDER ALL DUE PROCESS RIGHTS REQUIRED BY LAW.

## **PRESERVATION OF ERROR**

The DHS preserved error with respect to argument associated with due process rights at the administrative and judicial review levels.

Under the Fourteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution and article I, section 9 of the Iowa Constitution, there are two types of due process violations: substantive and procedural. <u>See State v.</u> <u>Hernandez-Lopez</u>, 639 N.W.2d 226, 237 (Iowa 2002). The federal and state due process provisions are nearly identical, as is the analysis for each. <u>See id.</u> If a state or federal court determines that substantive due process has not been violated, then the court will analyze procedural due process. <u>Hernandez-Lopez</u>, 639 N.W.2d at 237.

Procedural due process asks whether the government followed a fair process in taking the action. <u>Id.</u> Procedural due process is a flexible concept and different levels of procedure are required for different circumstances. <u>See Matthews v. Eldridge</u>, 424 U.S. 319, 334-335 (1976). To allege a procedural due process violation, a party must first establish that state action has deprived them of a protected property interest without due process of law. <u>Keating v. Nebraska</u> <u>Pub. Power Dist.</u>, 660 F.3d 1014, 1017 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2011).

## A. For a child care provider to have a property right in a benefit, there must be a legitimate claim of entitlement to the benefit, and not simply an expectation by the provider of it.

In considering whether the DHS deprived a person of a protected property interest without due process of law, the court must first evaluate whether the person has a protected property interest. <u>Id.</u> "To have a property interest in a benefit, a person clearly must have more than an abstract need or desire and more than a unilateral expectation of it. He must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitlement to it." <u>Id.</u>; <u>Bd. of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth</u>, 408 U.S.564, 577 (1972).

Property rights are "not created by the Constitution. Rather, they are created and their dimensions are defined by existing rules or understandings that stem from an independent source, such as state law." <u>Id.</u> (farmers holding water permits to withdraw water from the Niobrara Watershed did not hold a property right to that water because it was limited by the constraints of the permit.)

Similarly, in <u>General Motors Corp. v. Dep't of Treasury</u>, 803 N.W.2d 698, 702 (Mich. Ct. App. 2010), the Court held that the manufacturer did not have a vested property right sufficient to raise a procedural due process claim. <u>Id.</u> 708-709. The manufacturer's claim for refund was based upon a "mere expectation that its claim might succeed in light of the [decision of the Michigan Supreme Court]." <u>Id.</u> at 709.

A person's interest in a government benefit is a property interest subject to due process protection <u>only if</u> the entitlement to the benefit is supported by statute or rules. <u>Perry v. Sindermann</u>, 408 U.S. 593, 599-601, 92 S.Ct. 2694, 2699, 33 L.Ed.2d 570 (1972)(emphasis added). A state agency's procedural rules cannot, by themselves, serve as the basis for a constitutionally protected property interest. <u>Clemente v. U.S.</u>, 766 F.2d 1358, 1364 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1985); <u>Bills v. Henderson</u>, 631 F.2d 1287, 1298-99 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980). In the instant matter, no applicable statute or rule bestows a property interest upon child care providers who voluntarily elect to accept family CCA payments.

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