**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**SUPREME COURT NO. 18-1329**

---

**TERRI ENDRESS**

**Petitioner-Appellee,**

**vs.**

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,**

**Respondent-Appellant.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR  
POLK COUNTY HONORABLE KAREN ROMANO, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE'S FINAL BRIEF, CROSS-APPEAL  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

*/s/ Trent W. Nelson* \_\_\_\_\_

Trent W. Nelson – Attorney (AT0009958)

Sellers Galenbeck & Nelson

400 Locust Street, Suite 170

Des Moines, Iowa 50309

Telephone: (515) 221-0111

Fax: (515) 221-2702

Email: [tnelson@sgniowalaw.com](mailto:tnelson@sgniowalaw.com)

**ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER/APPELLEE**

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Iowa Code § 625.29

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-110.9(1)(e)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9(3)

**ISSUE I. MRS. ENDRESS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS**

*Brummer v. Iowa Dept. of Corrections*, 661 N.W.2d 167, 171 (Iowa 2003)

*Perry v. Sindermann*, 408 U.S. 593, 601 (1972)

Iowa Code Chapter 91A

Iowa Code § 237A.13(4)

*Clemente v. U.S.*, 766 F.2d 1358, 1365 (9th Cir. 1985)

*Bills v. Henderson*, 631 F.2d 1287, 1293 (6th Cir. 1980)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9

Iowa Code § 17A.2(5)

Iowa Code Chapter 17A

Iowa Code § 237A.13

Iowa Code § 17A.11

Iowa Code §17A.18A

Iowa Code § 17A.12(2)

Iowa Code Chapter 237A

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-170.9

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9(a)(1)

**ISSUE II. THE DEPARTMENT DOES NOT HAVE THE AUTHORITY TO PROMULGATE RECOUPMENT RULES OR POLICIES.**

Iowa Code section 17A.19(10)

*ABC Disposal Sys., Inc. v. Dept. Of Nat. Resources*, 681 N.W.2d 596, 601 (Iowa 2004)

*Iowa Dept. of Soc. Servs. v. Blair*, 294 NW 2d 567

*Renda v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 784 NW.2d 8, 11-12 (Iowa 2010)

*Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, L.L.C.*, 878 N.W.2d 759, 769 (Iowa 2016)

*NextEra Energy Resources LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 815 N.W.2d 30, 38 (Iowa 2012)

*Branderhorst v. Iowa State Hwy. Commn. on Behalf of State*, 202 N.W.2d 38, 41 (Iowa 1972)

Iowa Code § 17A.23(3)

**ISSUE III. IF THIS COURT REVERSES THE DISTRICT COURT, THE DEPARTMENT WILL STILL BE UNJUSTLY ENRICHED**

*High Dev. Corp. v. Star of the W. Co.*, 772 N.W.2d 15 (Iowa App. 2009)

*Credit Bureau Enters., Inc. v. Pelo*, 608 N.W.2d 20, 25 (Iowa 2000)

*Iowa Waste Sys., Inc. v. Buchanan County*, 617 N.W.2d 23, 29 (Iowa Ct.App.2000)

*State, Dep't of Human Servs. ex rel. Palmer v. Unisys Corp.*, 637 N.W.2d 142, 154 (Iowa 2001)

*Hunting Sols. Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Knight*, No. 16-0733, 2017 WL 2684337, at p. 2 (Iowa Ct. App. June 21, 2017)

**ISSUE IV. THE DEPARTMENT’S “PUBLIC POLICY” STATEMENTS ARE UNFOUNDED OR NONSENSICAL**

Iowa Code 17A.1(3)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9(1)

**ISSUE V. CROSS-APPEAL ARGUMENT- MRS. ENDRESS SHOULD BE AWARDED ATTORNEY FEES PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE § 625.29**

*Branstad v. State ex rel. Nat. Resource Commn.*, 871 N.W.2d 291, 294 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Admin Code r. 441-7.9(7)

Iowa Code § 481A.151(2)

Iowa Code 17A.11(1)(a)

Iowa Code 17A.11(1)(b)

*McCracken v. Iowa Dept of Human Services*, 595 N.W.2d 779 (1999)

**ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), This case should be retained by the Supreme Court because it presents substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of administrative rules that violate procedural due process of the Appellant and are unconstitutionally vague. Additionally, this case presents questions of first impression about the validity of these specific regulations pursuant to Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c). Given that this case is about the State pilfering money *earned* by child care providers who provided child care services to vulnerable populations, this case also presents urgent



issues of broad public importance in accordance with Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(d).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is about the right of the Iowa Department of Humans Services (Department) to promulgate or enforce a rule which allows the confiscation of all the money (recoupment) earned by a child care provider during an *appeal* of a “Notice of Decision.” To be clear, the money the Department claims it can recoup is money the provider was paid for child care services rendered during the pendency of an appeal (from notice to final ruling in this case - \$16,001.94) and recouped merely for appealing a decision adverse to her. The Department believes that the Iowa Code and administrative rules allows them to reclaim all money paid to a childcare provider during an appeal, thus making the child care provider an indentured servant to the State. The District Court ruled that the Department exceeded its authority and that those same rules are unconstitutionally vague and constitute other due process violations. Furthermore, because the Department’s actions are so egregious and denied Mrs. Endress’ fair process, she should be awarded attorney fees pursuant to Iowa Code § 625.29 (cross-appeal).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Terri Endress (Mrs. Endress), has been providing childcare services for about a decade. Admin R. p. 102. App. p. 118. Mrs. Endress began as an unregistered child care provider, was encouraged by the Department to become a Category A provider registered with the Department and eventually became a registered child care Category B provider on May 24, 2012. Admin. R. p. 103-105. App. p. 119-121. This meant that no more than 12 children could be in her care at any one time. Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-110.9(1)(e).

The Child Care Assistance Program is a federal- and state-funded program designed to provide child care to families who could otherwise not afford it. Providers such as Mrs. Endress provide child care under the CCA Program as per Child Care Assistance Provider Agreements. *See, e.g.*, Admin. R. p. 175-179. App. p. 191-195. Mrs. Endress filled out Child Care Assistance Provider Agreements every two years while enrolled in the Child Care Assistance Program. Admin. R. p. 175-179. App. p. 191-195. The “Child Care Assistance Provider Agreement” (Agreement) does not require a provider to pay back money received for services rendered during an appeal. *Id.* However, there is a “Repayment” requirement which states that, “... I understand that I may have to re-pay money received in error or as a result of fraudulent

billing.” Admin. R. p. 179. App. p. 195. The Agreement also states that the childcare provider has the status of an independent contractor. Admin. R. p. 179. App. p. 195.

On July 17, 2014, the DHS issued a Notice of Decision which stated that Mrs. Endress submitted claims for payment to which she was not entitled. Admin. R. p. 310. App. p. 326. The notice states in the boilerplate that, “You may keep your benefits until your appeal is final or through the end of your certification period if you file an appeal .... Any benefits you get while your appeal is being decided *may* have to be paid back if the Department’s action is correct.” *Id.* at p. 3. (emphasis added). Admin. R. p. 312. App. p. 328. The notice did not accuse Mrs. Endress of fraud. Mrs. Endress continued receiving payment for services rendered as a child care provider during her appeal of the alleged overpayment. Admin. R. p. 313. App. p. 329.

On July 31, 2014, the DHS provided Mrs. Endress notice that she had timely appealed the July 29, 2014, Notice of Decision. Admin R. p. 314. App. p. 330. Again, this notice stated, “You are therefore allowed to continue to receive child care assistance funding pending the outcome of your appeal. Any benefits you get while your appeal is being decided *may* have to be paid back if the Department’s action is correct.” Admin. R. p. 314 (emphasis added). App. p. 330.

A telephonic hearing was held on September 25, 2014, on the allegation that Mrs. Endress had overbilled the Department. Admin. R. p. 316. App. p. 332. In that Decision ALJ Martin Francis concluded that Mrs. Endress had made a billing error. Admin. R. p. 263. App. p. 279. It was specifically found that Mrs. Endress did not commit fraud. Admin. R. p. 264. App. p. 280. However, Judge Francis found that the decision of the DHS was supported by the evidence that she had mistakenly billed for more children in her care than allowed and terminated her Child Care Assistance Provider Agreement. Admin. R. p. 264. App. p. 280.

On November 10, 2014, Mrs. Endress requested an appeal to the director and on November 21, 2014, the director sustained the decision of ALJ Martin. Admin. R. p. 319-320. App. p. 335-336. Mrs. Endress did not attempt to renew or reapply for her Child Care Assistance Agreement at that time. Admin. R. p. 116-117. App. p. 132-133. No notice of “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” was sent to her at that time. Admin R. p. 118. App. p. 134. Mrs. Endress was never and has never been advised the amount she had mistakenly billed the Department. Mrs. Endress estimates that amount to be, at maximum, \$623.28 and likely much less.

This \$623.28 estimate was first calculated by Mrs. Endress during the agency appeal and used throughout these proceedings. Admin. R. p. 38. App.

p. 54. The Department never challenged this estimate; however, Mrs. Endress does not concede that it ever owed the Department \$623.28, but rather only that this is the *absolute most* she could have overbilled the Department.

**This concluded the 2014 proceedings.**

In 2017, Mrs. Endress applied for a new Child Care Assistance Agreement and was accepted as a provider under that program. Admin. R. p. 117. App. p. 133.

On April 3, 2017, Mrs. Endress was sent a “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” which stated that she owed \$16,0001.94 for the months of July 29, 2014 to November 23, 2014, the appeal period from the prior action in 2014. Admin. R. p. 376. App. p. 392. This 2017 Notice was the first time the Department attempted to collect on the *recoupment* (not the overbilling – the estimated maximum of \$623.28 she mistakenly billed) it states the Department was owed in 2014.

The only improperly charged billings on the part of Mrs. Endress occurred in 2011-2013 according to the November 3, 2014, Proposed Decision. Admin. R. p. 165. App. p. 181. As described above, Mrs. Endress estimates the maximum accidental overcharge to be no more than \$623.28, however she has never received any notice of what the Department claims she actually, mistakenly, overbilled the Department. Admin. R. p. 38. App. p. 54.

The April 3, 2017, “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” demanded repayment of \$16,001.94 for the period of July 29, 2014 to November 23, 2014. Admin. R. 376. App. p. 392. From July 29, 2014 to November 23, 2014 is when Mrs. Endress continued to work with the knowledge and permission of the Department while her appeal was pending.

The “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” also claims that Mrs. Endress is being charged the \$16,001.94 based on “A mistake made by a provider that caused DHS to pay the provider incorrectly for child care services.” Admin. R. p. 376. App. p. 392. In fact, there was no overpayment identified nor any mistaken payment identified. She was paid only for child care services actually performed. The November 23, 2014, “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” specifically provides the right to appeal the decision. Admin. R. p. 377. App. p. 393.

Mrs. Endress appealed the April 3, 2017, “Notice of Child Care Assistance Overpayment” and a hearing was held on the matter on August 8, 2017. Admin. R. p. 62. App. p. 78.

The Department relied heavily on Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9(3) during the hearing which states, “... excess assistance paid pending a hearing decision shall be recovered to the date of the decision. This recovery is not an

appealable issue. However, appeals may be heard on the computation of excess assistance paid pending a hearing decision.”

During the August 8, 2017, hearing the representative from the Department noted that Mrs. Endress did not contest the amount of the money that was paid to her during the appeal period and that “... the 16,000 is an accurate calculation, and it is the only appealable piece for this appeal ....” Admin. R. p. 80. App. p. 96. Mrs. Endress did not argue the amount of money paid to her during the 2014 appeal. Admin. R. p. 207. App. p. 223.

The representative for the Department also stated that its “interpretation [is that] we’re appealing [an] overpayment calculation,” as opposed to any argument regarding authority or constitutional matters. Admin. R. p. 85. App. p. 101.

The representative for the Department stated, “I am prepared to talk about the overpayment appeal today, not the – all the laws and rules regarding the administrative rule process.” Admin. R. p. 87. App. p. 103.

The representative for the Department stated during the hearing that, “Your Honor, this is outside of my scope, and outside the scope of the appeal. I’m prepared to talk about the overpayment calculation, which is our understanding the only appealable issue ....,” to which the ALJ responded, “... I need to let Mr. Nelson make a professional record that he needs to on issues

that could potentially be addressed in judicial review, even though I can't consider them." Admin. R. p. 88. App. p. 104.

During the examination of Mrs. Endress during the hearing the Department representative objected because, she didn't "... see how this is relevant to the overpayment." Admin. R. p. 123. App. p. 139.

On September 7, 2017, ALJ Amanda Atherton affirmed the decision of the Department. Admin. R. 32. App. p. 48. In that decision ALJ Atherton stated, "I am tasked with determining whether the Department complied with applicable rules, not whether those rules are valid ...," and found them preserved for judicial review. Admin R. p. 32. App. p. 48. ALJ Atherton also stated she could not address Mrs. Endress' constitutional arguments for the same reason. Admin. R. p. 31. App. p. 47.

Mrs. Endress appealed to the Director of the Department and on October 20, 2017, the Director affirmed the ALJ's proposed decision in the "Final Decision." Admin. R. 1-3. App. p. 17-19. The Director found, "A Proposed Decision was issued stating the Department correctly computed and established a claim for overpaid child care assistance." Admin. R. at p. 1. App. p. 17. The Director again cited Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-7.9(3) which states, "This recovery is not an appealable issue." *Id.* The Director also specifically noted that agencies lack the authority to decide constitutional and due process



arguments, noting they were preserved for judicial review. *Id.* at p. 2. App. p. 18.

On November 15, 2017, Mrs. Endress filed her Petition for Judicial Review. App. p. 5. After both parties had an opportunity to file briefs, a hearing was held on the matter on May 4, 2018. See Petitioner’s “Brief in Support of Judicial Review,” (March 16, 2018) App. p. 410.

The District Court issued its “Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review” (Ruling) on July 12, 2018 and reversed the decision of the Department. App. p. 489. However, the District Court denied Mrs. Endress’ requests for attorney fees pursuant to Iowa Code § 625.29. On July 27, 2018, Mrs. Endress filed a motion to expand or enlarge the District Court’s decision on attorney fees. App. p. 520. *See also*, Petitioner’s “Reply.” App. p. 526. This motion was denied on August 6, 2018. App. p. 529.

On August 7, 2018, the Department appealed the District Court’s July 12, 2018 Ruling. On August 8, 2018, Mrs. Endress filed a cross-appeal regarding the District Court’s decision denying attorney’s fees.

## **ISSUE I. MRS. ENDRESS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS**

### **Preservation of Error**

Mrs. Endress agrees with the Department that this matter was preserved.

### **Standard of Review**

Mrs. Endress disagrees with the Department. In cases where the Supreme Court is tasked with reviewing matters involving the constitutionality of agency action, the review is *de novo*. *Brummer v. Iowa Dept. of Corrections*, 661 N.W.2d 167, 171 (Iowa 2003).

### **Brief and Argument**

#### ***A. Mrs. Endress has an interest in money she earned as a child care provider***

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